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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

07-81163-CIV-MARRA/JOHNSON

d/b/a TITAN CAPITAL STOCKS,

Defendants.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, )
) FILEDby JC  D.C.
Plaintiff, ) ELECTRONIC
" ; DEC. 7, 2007
VINCENT CAMMARATA, )
REX A. MORDEN, and ) cfé{:.?z ;:LE,“;‘:;‘,’:’%"T
AFFINITY FINANCIAL GROUP, INC., ) 5.0 A
)
)
)
)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges as follows:
I. INTRODUCTION

1. This matter concerns a fraudulent scheme by Defendants Affinity Financial
Group, Inc. d/b/a Titan Capital Stocks, Vincent Cammarata, and Rex A. Morden to manipulate
the market for WaterBank of America (USA), Inc. stock in violation of the federal securities
laws.

2. In November and December 2006, the Defendants participated in a scheme in
which they agreed to pay an illegal kickback to a purported West Palm Beach, Florida-based
hedge fund advisor to induce the hedge fund to purchase shares of WaterBank stock.
Unbeknownst to the Defendants, the person posing as the corrupt hedge fund investment advisor
was actually an undercover FBI agent.

3. Cammarata and Morden are stock promoters who were trying to solicit interest in

purchasing WaterBank stock. Cammarata and Morden orchestrated a plan by which they
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arranéed to pay the agent posing as the investment adviser 30% of the proceeds from the hedge
fund’s purchase of WaterBank shares as a kickback. The deal was culminated on December 7,
2006.

4, By virtue of their conduct, the Defendants violated Section 17(a) of the Securities
Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a); and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R.
§240.10b-5.

5. The Commission requests the Court to enter (1) a permanent injunction
restraining and enjoining the Defendants from violating the federal securities laws, (2) an order
directing Cammarata to disgorge all profits or proceeds he received as a result of the acts and/or
courses of conduct complained of, with prejudgment interest, (3) an order directing the
Defendants to pay civil money penalties, and (4) an order barring Cammarata and Morden from
participating in any offering of penny stock.

II. DEFENDANTS AND RELEVANT ENTITY

A. Defendants

6. Cammarata, 33, is a stock promoter who resides in New York, New York. He is
presently on supervised release, having served three years in federal prison in New York for drug
related offenses.

7. Morden, 57, is a stock promoter who resides in Henderson, Nevada. He is
President, sole Director and sole shareholder of Affinity. He is also a principal of Capital Media,
Inc., a Nevada corporation that provides brand marketing services to WaterBank.

8. Affinity, which does business as “Titan Capital Stocks,” is a Nevada corporation

in the business of providing consulting services.
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B. Relevant Entity

9. WaterBank is a Utah corporation with its main offices in Miami, Florida. The
company purports to manufacture and distribute prepackaged ice cubes. WaterBank became
publicly traded in October 2006 after a reverse merger with a Utah-based publicly traded
company. Waterbank’s securities are registered with the Commission and its stock is quoted on
the Pink Sheets (symbol “WBKA”).

10. WaterBank’s stock is penny stock. Section 3(a)(51) and Rule 3a51-1 of the
Exchange Act define a penny stock as any equity security, other than those securities that are
specifically excluded in Rules 3a51-1(a)-(g). The WaterBank stock does not qualify for any of
the exclusions, and at all times relevant to this Complaint was priced at less than $5. In addition,
it did not have net tangible assets or average revenues in excess of $2,000,000 to qualify for the
exclusion in Rule 3a51-1(g).

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(d) and 22(a) of
the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d) and 77v(a); and Sections 21(d) and 27 of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78aa.

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants, and venue is proper in
the Southern District of Florida, because many of the Defendants’ acts and transactions
constituting violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act occurred in the Southern
District of Florida. For example, the agent was located in West Palm Beach, Florida.
Additionally, Affinity wired the kickback to a bank account in West Palm Beach and the agent

used a West Palm Beach bank account to wire Cammarata his share of the kickback.
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13. In connection with the conduct alleged in this Complaint, the Defendants, directly
or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, have made use of the means or instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, the means or instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce, and the mails.

IV. THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

14. Cammarata and Morden are stock promoters. Cammarata was introduced to the
agent as someone who could identify companies interested in selling their stock. In November
2006, Cammarata made an arrangement with the agent for Cammarata to receive five percent of
any kickback in exchange for referring individuals seeking to sell stock. Cammarata then
introduced Morden to the agent as someone who would pay a kickback to induce the purchase of
WaterBank shares.

15. On November 20, 2006, the agent contacted Morden. Morden explained that the
owner of the shares was actually an independent company (“Stock Owner”). Morden said the
Stock Owner wanted to sell 200,000 shares of WaterBank stock and agreed to pay the agent 30%
of the price the agent’s hedge fund paid as a kickback to induce the purchase of these shares.

16. The agent informed Morden and Cammarata he owed a fiduciary duty to the
hedge fund, and there would be a problem with the Commission if the kickback were discovered.
He therefore suggested the kickback should remain undisclosed and paid to a third party.
Morden then suggested creating a phony consulting fee agreement to conceal the kickback.

17. Morden prepared the bogus consulting agreement between Affinity and a shell
company the agent’s purported girlfriend owned. The girlfriend was actually a second
undercover agent. Morden told the agent to make sure the “girlfriend’s” company submitted an

invoice with fees and expenses adding up to the kickback of 30% of the purchase price.
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| 18. On November 29, 2006, Morden told the agent he was ready to initiate the sale of
WaterBank shares. Morden directed the Stock Owner to deposit 50,000 shares into Morden’s
brokerage account. To ensure the agent was buying the Stock Owner’s shares rather than shares
off the street, Morden instructed his broker to lower the offer price for the shares so it was the
lowest available price on the market.

19. On December 7, 2006, Morden’s broker told the agent to bid on a purchase price
of $1.90 per share, which was lower than the quoted price at that time. The agent used an
E-Trade account to purchase 2,300 WaterBank shares for $1.90 per share, purportedly on behalf
of the hedge fund. After making the purchase, the agent confirmed with Morden’s broker by
telephone that the hedge fund had purchased shares belonging to the Stock Owner. The agent
then purchased another 2,700 shares at the same price, for a total of 5,000 shares at $1.90 a
share.

20. These trades were publicly reported. The average daily trading volume for
WaterBank shares in the prior ten days was approximately 13,000 shares, and the hedge fund’s
purchase constituted 23% of the trading volume on December 7, 2006.

21. Also on December 7, Affinity wired the kickback in the amount of $2,850 (30%
of 5,000 shares at $1.90 a share) to the account given by the second agent’s phony consulting
company. The agent, in turn, wired $475 (5% of 5,000 shares at $1.90) to Cammarata as his

compensation in the deal.
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COUNT 1
Fraud In Violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act

22. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 21 of its Complaint.

23. In November and December 2006, the Defendants directly and indirectly, by use
of the, means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce and by
use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, as described in this Complaint, knowingly,
willfully or recklessly employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud.

24. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants, directly and indirectly, have violated
and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.
§77q(a).

COUNT I
Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act

25. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 21 of its Complaint.

26. In November and December 2006, the Defendants, directly and indirectly, by use
of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails in connection with the
purchase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes
or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of business
which have operated, are now operating and will operate as a fraud upon the purchasers of such

securities.
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27. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have directly or indirectly violated
and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §
78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
I

Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine, and find that the Defendants have committed the violations of the
federal securities laws alleged in this Complaint.
IL.

Permanent Injunctive Relief

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining the Defendants, their officers,
agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with
them, and each of them, from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act, as indicated above.

IIL.
Disgorgement
Issue an Order directing Cammarata to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, including

prejudgment interest, resulting from the acts or courses of conduct alleged in this Complaint.
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IV.
Penalties
Issue an Order directing all Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section
20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d); and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78(d)(3).
V.

Penny Stock Bars

Issue an Order barring Cammarata and Morden from participating in any offering of
penny stock, pursuant to Section 20(g) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(g), and Section
21(d) of the Exchange Act,15 U.S.C. § 78u(d), for the violations alleged in this Complaint.

VI

Further Relief

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
VII.

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this
action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that it may enter, or
to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief within the

jurisdiction of this Court.
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December 7, 2007

By:

Respectfully submitted,

¢ Riggle Berlin
Senior Trial Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0630020
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6322
berlina@sec.gov

Thierry Olivier Desmet
Branch Chief

Florida Bar No. 0143863
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6374

Brian P. Knight

Senior Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0993662
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6385

Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800
Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6300
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154
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